# **EXHIBIT D**

BYLAWS FOR THE HAMMOCK AT PALM HARBOR CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC.

# **BY-LAWS**

#### OF

# THE HAMMOCK AT PALM HARBOR CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC. (A Florida Corporation Not For Profit)

#### Section 1. <u>Identification of Association</u>

These are the By-Laws of The Hammock at Palm Harbor Condominium Association, Inc., hereinafter referred to as the "Association", as duly adopted by its Board of Directors. The Association is a corporation not for profit, organized pursuant to and under Chapters 617 and 718 of the Florida Statutes for the purpose of administering the condominium known as The Hammock at Palm Harbor, A Condominium located in Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida.

- 1.1 The present office of the Association shall be located at 100 Misty Harbor Trace, Palm Coast, Florida 32137, and thereafter may be located at any place in the County designated by the Board of Directors of the Association.
- 1.2 The fiscal year of the Association shall be the calendar year, or as otherwise determined by the Board of Directors.
- 1.3 The seal of the Association shall bear the name of the Association, the word "Florida", and the words "Corporation Not For Profit".

### Section 2. Explanation of Terminology

The terms defined in the Declaration of Condominium of the Condominium administered by the Association are incorporated herein by reference.

# Section 3. <u>Membership in the Association, Members' Meetings, Voting and Proxies</u>

- 3.1 The qualification of members, the manner of their admission to membership in the Association and the manner of the termination of such membership shall be as set forth in Article IV of the Articles.
- 3.2 The members shall meet annually at the office of the Association or such other place in the County on the first Monday of October, commencing with the year 2008; provided, however, that said date may be changed by resolution of the Board of Directors so long as the annual members meeting for any year shall be held not later than thirteen (13) months after the last preceding annual members meeting. The purpose of the annual members meeting shall be to hear reports of the officers, elect members of the Board of Directors (subject to the provisions of Article IX of the Articles) and to transact any other business authorized to be transacted by the members.
- 3.3 Special meetings of the members shall be held at any place within the County, whenever called by the President, a Vice President or a majority of the Board of Directors. A special meeting must be called by the President or a Vice President upon receipt of a written

request from twenty (20%) percent of the members. Special meetings shall be called by the President or a Vice President upon receipt of written notice from the Owners' Association of a meeting of the Members thereof, which special meeting shall be held prior to the date of the noticed meeting of the Members of the Owners' Association for the purpose of voting on the matters to be voted upon before the Members of the Owners' Association.

- 3.4 Written notice of any meeting (whether an annual members meeting or a special meeting of the members) shall be mailed to each member entitled to vote at his last known address as it appears on the books of the Association. Written notice of an annual members meeting shall be mailed to each member (in the manner required by the Act and any amendments thereto in effect at the time of mailing) not less than fourteen (14) days nor more than forty (40) days prior to the date of the annual members meeting. Written notice of a special meeting of the members shall be mailed not less than ten (10) days nor more than forty (40) days prior to the date of such special meeting. Proof of mailing shall be given by the affidavit of the person giving the notice. The notice shall state the time and place of such meeting and the object for which the meeting is called and shall be signed by the Secretary or acting Secretary of the Association. Notice of the annual members meeting shall be posted at a conspicuous place on each Condominium Property at least fourteen (14) continuous days prior to an annual members meeting. If a meeting of the members, whether a special meeting or an annual members meeting, is one which, by express provision of the Act or Condominium Documents, there is permitted or required a greater or lesser amount of time for the mailing or posting of notice than is required or permitted by the provisions of this Section 3.4, then the aforesaid express provision shall govern. Notice of any special meeting shall set forth the purpose of such special meeting. Notice of any meeting may be waived in writing by any member before, during or after a meeting.
- 3.5 The members may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, act by written consent in lieu of a special meeting, provided written notice of the matter or matters to be voted upon is given to each member at the addresses and within the time periods set forth in Section 3.4 herein or duly waived in accordance with such Section. The decision of the majority of the members as to the matter or matters to be voted upon (as evidenced by written consent requested in the notice) shall be binding on the members. The notice shall set forth a time period during which time a response must be made by the members.
- 3.6 A quorum of the members shall consist of persons entitled to cast a majority of the votes of the entire membership and decisions shall be made by owners of a majority of the Condominium Units represented at a meeting at which a quorum is present. When a quorum is present at any meeting and the jurisdiction of such meeting is challenged, the holders of a majority of the vote present in person or by "Proxy", as hereinafter defined, shall decide the question. However, if the question is one which, by express provisions of the Act or the Condominium Documents, requires a vote other than the majority vote of a quorum, then such express provision shall govern and control the required vote on such question.
- 3.7 If a meeting of the members cannot be held because a quorum is not in attendance, the members who are present, either in person or by Proxy, may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum is present. If a meeting is adjourned because of the lack of a

quorum, the notice provisions for the adjournment shall, subject to the Act, be as determined by the Board of Directors.

- 3.8 Minutes of all meetings of the members shall be kept in a businesslike manner and be available for inspection by the members and Directors at all reasonable times and upon reasonable notice. The Association shall retain minutes for at least seven (7) years subsequent to the date of the meeting.
- 3.9 Voting rights of members shall be as stated in the Declaration and Articles. Such votes may be cast in person, by Proxy or by "Voting Certificate" (as defined in the Declaration). Proxy is defined to mean an instrument containing the appointment of a person who is substituted by a member to vote for him and in the members place and stead. Proxies shall be in writing and shall be valid only for the particular meeting designated therein and any adjournments thereof if so stated. A Proxy must set forth the name of the person voting by Proxy, his Condominium Unit number, the name of the person authorized to vote the Proxy for him, and the date the Proxy was given. A Proxy must be filed with the Secretary of the Association before the appointed time of the meeting in order to be effective. Any Proxy may be revoked prior to the time a vote is cast according to such Proxy.
- 3.10 At any time prior to a vote upon any matter at a meeting of the members any member may demand the use of a secret written ballot for voting on such matter. The Chairman of the meeting shall call for the nomination and election of Inspectors of Election to collect and tally written ballots upon the completion of balloting.
  - 3.11 Cumulative voting shall not be permitted.

## Section 4. Board of Directors; Director's Meetings

- 4.1 The Association shall be administered by a Board of not less than three (3) Directors, subject to the increase as set forth in Article IX of the Articles.
- 4.2 The provisions of the Articles setting forth the selection, election, designation and removal of Directors are hereby incorporated herein by reference.
- 4.3 Subject to Section 4.5 below and to Declarant's rights as set forth in the Articles and as set forth in Section 4.5(c) below, vacancies in the Board of Directors shall be filled by persons appointed by the remaining Directors. Any such person shall be a Director and have all of the rights, privileges, duties and obligations as a Director elected at an Annual members meeting and shall serve for the term prescribed in Section 4.4 of these By-Laws.
- 4.4 The term of each Director shall extend until the next annual members meeting at which his term expires as provided in Article IX of the Articles, and until his successor is duly elected and qualified, or until he is removed in the manner elsewhere provided herein.
- 4.5 (a) A Director elected by the Purchaser Members may be removed from office upon the affirmative vote or the agreement in writing of a majority of the Purchaser Members at a special meeting of the Purchaser Members with or without cause. A meeting of

Purchaser Members to so remove a Director elected by them shall be held, subject to the notice provisions of Section 3.4 hereof, upon the written request of ten percent (10%) of the Purchaser Members. However, before any such Director is removed from office, he shall be notified in writing prior to the meeting at which a motion will be made to remove him that such a motion will be made, and such Director shall be given an opportunity to be heard at such meeting should he be present prior to the vote on his removal.

- (b) Purchaser Members shall elect, at a special meeting of the members or at an annual members meeting, persons to fill vacancies on the Board of Directors caused by the removal of a Director elected by Purchaser Members in accordance with Section 4.5(a) above.
- (c) A Director designated by Declarant, as provided in the Articles, may be removed only by Declarant in its sole discretion. Declarant shall have the right to name a successor for any Director removed by it or for any vacancy on the Board of Directors as to a Director designated by it and Declarant shall notify the Board of Directors of the name of the respective successor Director and the commencement date for the term of such successor Director.
- 4.6 The organizational meeting of the members of a newly elected Board of Directors shall be held within ten (10) days of their election at such place and time as shall be fixed by the Directors at the meeting at which they were elected. No further notice of the organizational meeting shall be necessary.
- 4.7 Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at such time and place as shall be determined from time to time by a majority of Directors. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at the discretion of the President or, in his absence, the Vice President of the Association. Special meetings must be called by the Secretary at the written request of one-third (1/3) of the Directors.
- 4.8 Notice of the time and place of regular and special meetings of the Board of Directors, or adjournments thereof, shall be given to each Director in person, telephone or telegraph at least three (3) business days prior to the day named for such meeting, or in the event notice is given by mail, five (5) business days prior to the day named for such meeting. Notice of a Board of Directors meeting shall be posted conspicuously on each Condominium Property forty-eight (48) continuous hours in advance of said meeting. Notice of any meeting where "Assessments" (as such term is hereinafter defined) are to be considered shall state that Assessments will be considered and the nature of such Assessments. Directors may waive notice of a meeting before, during or after a meeting, and such waiver shall be deemed equivalent to the receipt of notice by such Director.
- 4.9 A quorum of the Board of Directors shall consist of a majority of the Directors. Matters approved by a majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall constitute the official acts of the Board of Directors, except as specifically otherwise provided in the Declaration, Articles or elsewhere herein. If at any meeting of the Board of Directors there shall be less than a quorum present, the majority of those present may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum is present.

- 4.10 The presiding officer at Board meetings shall be the President.
- 4.11 Directors shall not receive any compensation for their services as Directors.
- 4.12 Minutes of all meetings of the Board of Directors shall be kept in a businesslike manner and be available for inspection by members and Directors at all reasonable times and upon reasonable notice. The minutes shall be retained by the Association for at least seven (7) years subsequent to the date of the meeting the minutes reflect.
- 4.13 The Board of Directors shall have the power to appoint an executive committee of the Board of Directors consisting of not less than a majority of the Directors, which shall have and exercise such powers of the Board of Directors as may be delegated to such executive committee by the Board of Directors. All acts of the executive committee shall be affirmed at the next meeting of the Board of Directors.
- 4.14 Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be open to all members as shall be determined by the Board of Directors in respect to each meeting in its sole discretion except as otherwise expressly provided herein. Unless a member serves as a Director or unless he has been specifically invited by the Directors to participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors, such member shall not participate in the meeting, but shall only be entitled to act as an observer. If a member not serving as a Director or not otherwise invited by the Directors to participate in a meeting attempts to become more than an observer at such meeting or conducts himself in a manner detrimental to the carrying on of such meeting, then any Director may expel said member from the meeting by any reasonable means which may be necessary to accomplish such an expulsion. Any Director shall have the right to exclude from any meeting of the Board of Directors any person who is not able to provide sufficient proof that he is a member, unless said person was specifically invited by the Directors to participate in such meeting.

## Section 5. Powers and Duties of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors shall have the powers and duties necessary for the management and administration of the affairs of the condominiums. All powers and duties of the Association, including those existing under the Act and the Condominium Documents, shall be exercised by the Board of Directors, unless otherwise specifically delegated therein to the members. Such powers and duties of the Board of Directors shall be exercised in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the Condominium Documents and shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

- 5.1 Making and collecting against members to pay the Common Expenses of the Condominiums and Association. These Assessments shall be collected by the Association through payments made directly to it by the members as set forth in the Declaration.
- 5.2 Collecting the members' portion of Operating Expenses imposed by the Association for the operation and maintenance of the Common Areas under the Association's ownership or control.

- 5.3 Using the proceeds of Assessments in the exercise of the powers and duties of the Association and the Board of Directors.
- 5.4 Maintaining, repairing and operating the Common Elements of each Condominium and other property owned by the Association.
- 5.5 Reconstructing improvements after casualties and losses and making further authorized improvements of each Condominium Property.
- 5.6 Making and amending rules and regulations with respect to the operation and use of the Condominium Property of each Condominium and any property owned by the Association.
- 5.7 Approving or disapproving, subject to payment of any deposit and fee which may be imposed pursuant to §718.112(2)(i) of the Act, with respect to any proposed sales or lease or lease renewals in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Declaration.
- 5.8 Enforcing by legal means the provisions of the Condominium Documents including the Declaration, the Articles, these By-Laws, and any rules and regulations adopted by the Association and the applicable provisions of the Act.
- 5.9 To contract for the management and maintenance of the Condominium Property of the Condominium or other property owned by the Association and to authorize a management agent to assist the Association in carrying out its powers and duties by performing such functions as the submission of proposals, collection of Assessments, preparation of records, enforcement of any rules and regulations and maintenance, repair and replacement of Common Elements and other services with funds that shall be made available by the Association for such purposes and to terminate such contracts and authorizations. The Association and its officers shall, however, retain at all times the powers and duties granted by the Condominium Documents and the Act including, but not limited to, the making of Assessments, promulgation of rules and regulations and execution of contracts on behalf of the Association.
- 5.10 Paying taxes and assessments which are or may become liens against the Common Elements and Condominium Units owned by the Association, if any, and assessing the same against Condominium Units which are or may become subject to such liens.
- 5.11 Purchasing and carrying insurance for the protection of Condominium Unit Owners and the Association against casualty and liability for the Condominium Property of each Condominium and other property owned by the Association.
- 5.12 Paying costs of all power, water, sewer and other utility services rendered to the Condominium and not billed to owners of Condominium Units.
- 5.13 Hiring and retaining such employees as it shall deem appropriate in its discretion to administer and carry out the services required for the proper administration of the affairs of the Association, including the hiring of resident managers and paying all salaries therefor.

- 5.14 Performing all of the covenants, conditions and obligations set forth in the Declaration or required thereby.
- 5.15 To acquire, own, mortgage and convey real and personal property and take such other reasonable actions in that regard.
- 5.16 Electing, designating, and removing officers in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Condominium Documents.
- 5.17 Maintaining bank accounts on behalf of the Association and designating signatories required therefore.

#### Section 6. Officers of the Association

- 6.1 The officers of the Association shall be a President, who shall be a Director, one (1) or several Vice Presidents, a Treasurer and a Secretary, all of whom shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors. Any officer may be removed without cause from office by a vote of the Directors at any meeting of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall, from time to time, appoint such other officers and assistant officers and designate their powers and duties.
- 6.2 The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association. He shall have all of the powers and duties which are usually vested in the office of the President of a condominium association, including, but not limited to, the power to appoint such committees at such times from among the members as he may, in his discretion, determine appropriate to assist in conducting the affairs of the Association. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors.
- 6.3 In the absence or disability of the President, the Vice President shall exercise the powers and perform the duties of the President. The Vice President shall also generally assist the President and exercise such other powers and perform such other duties as shall be prescribed by the Board of Directors. In the event there shall be more than one (1) Vice President elected by the Board of Directors, then they shall be designated "First", "Second", etc., and shall exercise the powers and perform the duties of the Presidency in such order and shall perform such other duties as shall be prescribed by the President and the Board of Directors.
- Oirectors and the members, which minutes shall be kept in a businesslike manner and shall be available for inspection by members and Directors at all reasonable times and upon reasonable notice. He shall have custody of the seal of the Association and shall affix the same to instruments requiring such seal when duly authorized and directed by the Board of Directors to do so. He shall keep the records of the Association, except those of the Treasurer, and shall perform all of the duties incident to the office of Secretary of a condominium association as may be required by the Board of Directors or the President. The Assistant Secretary, if any, shall perform the duties of the Secretary when the Secretary is absent and shall assist the Secretary and perform such other duties as shall be prescribed by the President or the Board of Directors.

- 6.5 The Treasurer shall have custody of all of the property of the Association, including funds, securities and evidences of indebtedness. He shall keep the assessment rolls and accounts of the members, keep the books of the Association in accordance with good accounting practices and shall perform all of the duties incident to the office of a Treasurer. The Assistant Treasurer, if any, shall perform the duties of the Treasurer whenever the Treasurer is absent and shall assist the Treasurer and perform such other duties as shall be prescribed by the President or the Board of Directors.
- 6.6 The compensation, if any, of employees of the Association shall be fixed by the Board of Directors. Officers shall not be compensated for their services as officers. This provision shall not preclude the Board of Directors from employing a Director as an employee of the Association nor contracting with a Director for the management of the Condominium Property of any of the Condominiums or any other property owned by the Association.

### Section 7. Accounting Records; Fiscal Management

- 7.1 The Association shall maintain accounting records in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and on an accrual basis. The accounting records shall be open to inspection by members or their authorized representatives who shall be accountants at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice. Such authorization as a representative of a member must be in writing and be signed by the member giving such authorization and dated within sixty (60) days of the date of any such request. Written financial reports or statements of the Association shall be supplied at least annually, as set forth more fully in Section 7.2(f) below, to the members. The accounting records shall include (a) a record of all receipts and expenditures, including, as applicable, and not limited to, costs for security, professional management, taxes, refuse collection and utility services, lawn care, building maintenance and repair, insurance, administrative and salary expenses, and general, maintenance, and depreciation reserves; (b) an account for each Condominium Unit which shall designate the name and address of the Condominium Unit Owner, the amount of each Assessment charged to the Condominium Unit, the amounts and due dates for each Assessment, the amounts paid upon such account and the balance due for each Condominium Unit; (c) an account indicating the Common Expenses allocated under the Condominium budget and the Common Expenses actually incurred during the course of the fiscal year; and (d) a separate account for Operating Expenses charged by the Owners' Association against the Association as a whole and against each Condominium Unit.
- 7.2 (a) The Board of Directors shall adopt a budget of the Common Expenses of the Association and each Condominium (the "Budget") for each fiscal year at a regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors ("Budget Meeting") called for that purpose not later than November 15 of the prior year. In the event a Budget is not adopted by such date, it shall not abrogate or affect Condominium Unit Owners' obligations to pay Common Expenses. Prior to the Budget Meeting, a proposed Budget shall include, where applicable, but not be limited to, the following items of expense:
  - 1. Expenses for the Association and Condominium
  - (i) Administration of the Association

- (ii) Management Fees
- (iii) Maintenance
- (iv) Taxes upon Association Property
- (v) Insurance
- (vi) Other Expenses
- (vii) Security Provisions
- (viii) Operating Capital
- (ix) Reserves
- (x) Fees Payable to the Division of Florida Land Sales, Condominiums and Mobile Homes
- (xi) Association's Share of Taxes, Insurance and other Operating Expenses
- (xii) Deficiencies from Prior Year.
- 2. Expenses for a Unit Owner
- (i) Rent for the unit, if subject to a lease.

Copies of the proposed Budget and notice of the exact time and place of the Budget Meeting shall be mailed to each member at the member's last known address, as reflected on the books and records of the Association, not less than fourteen (14) days prior to said Budget Meeting, and the Budget Meeting shall be open to the members. Failure to timely adopt a Budget shall not affect or abrogate the obligation to pay Common Expenses.

(b) The Board of Directors may also include in the proposed Budget an amount as a Common Expense Assessment for the making of betterments to the Condominium Property of each Condominium and other property owned by the Association for anticipated expenses by the Association which are not anticipated to be incurred on a regular or annual basis or for the establishment of reserves for repair or replacement of the Condominium Property of each Condominium and other property owned by the Association either annually or from time to time as the Board of Directors shall determine the same to be necessary. Such amount may be levied upon the members by the Board of Directors as a Special Assessment and shall be considered an "Excluded Expense" under Section 7.3(a) hereof. In addition, the Board of Directors shall include, on an annual basis, the establishment of reserve accounts for capital expenditures and deferred maintenance of the Condominium Property of each Condominium and other property owned by the Association. The reserve accounts shall include, but not be limited to, roof repair and replacement, building painting, and pavement resurfacing. The amount to be reserved shall be computed by means of a formula which is based upon estimated life and estimated

replacement cost of each reserve item. This amount shall also be considered an Excluded Expense under Section 7.3(a) hereof. The members may by a majority vote determine for a particular fiscal year to budget no reserves or reserves in a lesser amount than required herein.

- (c) In administering the finances of the Association, the following procedures shall govern: (i) there shall be apportioned between calendar years on a pro rata basis any expenses which are prepaid in any one calendar year for Common Expenses which cover more than such calendar year; (ii) Assessments shall be made monthly, unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, in amounts no less than are required to provide funds in advance for payment of all of the anticipated expenses and for all unpaid expenses previously incurred; and (iii) Common Expenses incurred in a calendar year shall be charged against income for the same calendar year regardless of when the bill for such Common Expenses is received. Assessments shall be sufficient to provide adequate and available funds to meet all budgeted expenses and anticipated cash needs in any calendar year.
- (d) The depository of the Association shall be such bank or banks as shall be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors in which the monies of the Association shall be deposited. Withdrawal of monies from such account shall be by checks signed only by such persons as are authorized by the Board of Directors; provided, however, that at least two (2) authorized signatures shall be on any check.
- (e) A financial report for each year, including a statement of revenues and expenses of the Association shall be prepared by a Certified Public Accountant designated by the Board of Directors. Either a copy of such report or a complete set of financial statements shall be furnished to each member no later than the first day of April of the year following the year for which the report is made. The report or statements shall be deemed to be furnished to the member upon its delivery in person or mailing by prepaid, first-class mail to the member at his last known address shown on the books and records of the Association.
- 7.3 Until the provisions of §718.112(2)(e) of the Act relative to the members' approval of a Budget requiring Common Expense Assessments against the members in excess of one hundred fifteen percent (115%) of such Common Expense Assessments for the members in the preceding year are declared invalid by the Courts, or until amended by the Florida Legislature (however, if such amendment merely substitutes another amount for one hundred fifteen percent [115%], then such new amount shall be substituted for one hundred fifteen percent [115%] each time it is used in this Section 7.3), the following shall be applicable:
- (a) Should the Budget adopted by the Board of Directors at the Budget Meeting require Common Expense Assessments against the members in any one Condominium or the Association as a whole of an amount not greater than one hundred fifteen percent (115%) of such Common Expense Assessments for the prior year, the Budget shall be deemed approved. If, however, the Common Expense Assessments required to meet the Budget exceed one hundred fifteen percent (115%) of such Common Expense Assessments against the members in any one Condominium or the Association as a whole for the preceding year (an "Excess Assessment"), then the provisions of Sections 7.3(b), (c) and (d) hereof shall be applicable; provided that in computing whether a Common Expense Assessment constitutes an Excess Assessment, there

shall be excluded from such computation certain expenses (the "Excluded Expenses"), including the following:

- (i) Reserves for repair or replacement of the Condominium Property of each Condominium and other property owned by the Association;
- (ii) Anticipated expenses by the Association which are not anticipated to be incurred on a regular or annual basis; and
- (iii) Common Expense Assessments for betterments to the Condominium Property of each Condominium and other property owned by the Association.
- (b) Prior to the Majority Election Meeting: Should an Excess Assessment be adopted by the Board of Directors while Declarant is in control of the Board of Directors, then a special meeting of the members in the affected Condominium, or the Association, as the case may be, shall be called by the Board of Directors which shall be held not less than ten (10) days subsequent to the sending of written notice to each member, but within twenty (20) days after the Budget Meeting. At said special meeting, the Excess Assessment shall be presented to the members in the affected Condominium, or the Association, as the case may be. If at said special meeting a majority of the members in the affected Condominium, or the Association, as the case may be, shall approve the Excess Assessment, then the Budget adopted by the Board of Directors shall be the final Budget. If, at said special meeting of the members a majority of the members in the affected Condominium, or the Association, as the case may be, shall not approve the Excess Assessment, then the Board of Directors shall reconvene at a special meeting for the purpose of reducing the items of anticipated expense in the Budget in an amount necessary so that the Budget adopted by the Board of Directors will not result in an Excess Assessment against the members.
- After the Majority Election Meeting: Should an Excess Assessment be adopted (c) by the Board of Directors after the Board of Directors is no longer controlled by Declarant, then upon written application requesting a special meeting signed by ten percent (10%) or more of the members in the affected Condominium, or the Association, as the case may be, and delivered to the Board of Directors within twenty (20) days after the Budget Meeting, the Board of Directors shall call a special meeting to be held not less than ten (10) days subsequent to the sending of written notice to each member, but within thirty (30) days of the delivery of such application and shall enact a revision of the Budget. The enactment of a revision of the Budget shall require approval of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the members in the affected Condominium, or the Association, as the case may be. If such a revised Budget is enacted at said special meeting, then the revised Budget shall be the final Budget, or if a revised Budget is not enacted at such special meeting, or if no quorum is attained at such special meeting, then the Budget originally adopted by the Board of Directors shall be the final Budget. If no written application is delivered, as provided herein, then the Budget originally adopted by the Board of Directors shall be the final Budget.

- (d) The term "Majority Election Meeting" shall have the same meaning as set forth in the Articles.
- (e) The Board of Directors shall not anticipate revenues from Assessments or expend funds to pay for Common Expenses not included in the Budget or which shall exceed budgeted items and the Board of Directors shall not engage in deficit spending. Should there exist any deficiency which results from there being greater Common Expenses than revenues from Assessments, then such deficits shall be carried into the next succeeding year's Budget as a deficiency or shall be the subject of a Special Assessment to be levied by the Board of Directors as provided in the Declaration.
- 7.4 (a) The Budget constitutes an estimate of the expenses of the Association and for the Condominiums. Subsequent to the "Interim Assessment Period" (as described in the Declaration), this estimate of the expenses of the Association and the Condominiums shall be multiplied by the share in Common Expenses assigned to each Condominium Unit and the resultant product shall constitute the Annual Assessment for such Condominium Unit.
- (b) A Condominium Unit Owner shall also be liable for any Special Assessment levied against his Condominium Unit by the Board of Directors as provided in the Declaration or assessments for Operating Expenses or Special Assessments by the Association as provided in the Neighborhood Documents.
- 7.5 The Association shall collect Annual Assessments and Special Assessments, and assessments for Operating Expenses of the Association from the Condominium Unit Owners in the manner set forth in the Declaration and the other Condominium Documents.
- 7.6 If a Condominium Unit Owner shall be in default in the payment of an installment of the Annual Assessment, the Board of Directors or its agent may accelerate the remaining installments of the Annual Assessment.

#### Section 8. Rules

The Board of Directors may adopt rules or amend or rescind existing rules for the operation and use of the Condominium Property of each Condominium and other property owned by the Association at any meeting of the Board of Directors. Copies of rules promulgated, amended or rescinded shall be mailed to all Condominium Unit Owners at their last known address as shown on the books and records of the Association and shall not take effect until forty-eight (48) hours after such mailing.

#### Section 9. Enforcement Procedures

(a) Enforcement Committee. The Association shall have the right to assess reasonable fines against an Owner in the manner provided herein. Each Board of Directors (the "Appointing Board") shall have the power to create an "Enforcement Committee" to be comprised of three (3) members, one (1) of whom shall be a Director, and one (1) of whom shall be designated as the Chairperson thereof. The Enforcement Committee shall serve a term

consistent with the term of its Appointing Board. Members of the Enforcement Committee may be replaced with or without cause by majority vote of the Appointing Board.

- (b) Conduct of Enforcement Hearing. The alleged non-complying member shall be given reasonable opportunity to be heard.
- (c) Powers of the Enforcement Committee. The Enforcement Committee shall have the power to:
  - Adopt rules for the conduct of its hearings to be approved by the Board of Directors;
  - (ii) Effectuate the provisions set forth in this provision;
  - (iii) Issue orders consistent with this provision; and
  - (iv) Order non-complying members to pay a fine not to exceed Fifty (\$50.00) Dollars, or such greater amount as may be permitted by the Act.
- (d) Notice to Alleged Non-Complying members. Alleged non-complying members shall be given reasonable notice at least seven (7) days in advance of said hearing. No alleged non-complying member shall be given notice of hearing before the Enforcement Committee unless said alleged non-complying member has first been given reasonable opportunity to rectify the alleged non-complying condition.

### Section 10. Internal Dispute Resolution

As provided in Section 718.112(2)(l) (1995) of the Act, internal disputes arising from the operation of the Condominium among Unit Owners, the Association, their agents, and assigns shall be subject to mandatory nonbinding arbitration of disputes upon the consent of the parties to such dispute.

The Association shall have no responsibility to settle disputes between members or intervene on behalf of any member regarding a dispute with another member.

## Section 11. Parliamentary Rules

The then latest edition of <u>Robert's Rules of Order</u> shall govern the conduct of meetings of the Association; provided, however, if such Rules are in conflict with the Articles, these By-Laws, the Declaration, or the Act, then the Articles, By-Laws, Declaration, or the Act, as the case may be, shall govern in the following order of priority: Act, Declaration, Articles, By-Laws.

# Section 12. <u>Amendment of the By-Laws, Incorporation of Certain Provisions of</u> Florida Statutes

- 12.1 These By-Laws may be amended by the affirmative vote of not less than a majority of the members present at an annual members meeting or a special meeting of the members. A copy of the proposed amendment shall be sent to each member along with the notice of the special meeting of the members or annual members meeting.
- 12.2 Amendments to these By-Laws shall be made in accordance with the requirements of the Act and amendments thereto in effect at the time of amendment.
- 12.3 No modification or amendment to these By-Laws shall be adopted which would affect or impair the priority of any "Eligible Mortgagee", as defined in the Declaration, the validity of the mortgage held by any such Eligible Mortgagee or any of the rights of Declarant.
- 12.4 No amendment to these By-Laws shall be valid unless recorded with identification on the first page thereof of the book and page of the public records where the Declaration is recorded.
- 12.5 To the extent not already set forth herein, all of the provisions of Section 718.112(2)(a)-(m) Florida Statutes are deemed incorporated herein by this reference.

Jack Flanagan, Director

Harold R. Gray, Director

Steven R. Gray, Director